1956

# The State of Utah v. John Joseph Sullivan and Joseph Craven Washington : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE .

In an Information filed December 7, 1955,  
appellants were accused by Mr. Patrick H.  
Watson, District Attorney at St. George,  
Washington County, State of Utah, of the crime  
of Burglary in the Second Degree, more specifically that  
they did break and enter a room occupied by Mr. E. R.  
Sprague in the Twin Oaks Motel at St. George, Utah (Gl. Tr.  
. 3.) Upon being arraigned, they were appointed  
Mr. Ellis J. Pickett of St. George, Utah

: Counsel and they entered Pleas of Not Guilty  
Clark's Trans. p. 18. )

: the 1st and 2nd. days of February, 1956, they  
were Tried in the Fifth District Court, County of  
Washington, Hon: Will E. Hoyt, Judge; and  
were convicted by Verdict of the Jury of 2nd.  
degree Burglary as charged (Cl. Tr. p. 10. )  
and on the 7th. day of February, 1956, the  
trial Court rendered its' Final Judgment of  
conviction and Sentence to the Utah State  
Prison ( Cl. Tr. p. 17.); On the 9th day of  
March, 1956, their Counsel duly gave 'Notice of  
Appeal to the Supreme Court of Utah, and made  
Motion for the preparation of the Transcripts  
on Appeal ( Cl. Tr. pp. 14-15.) and the Appell-  
ants later made a more detailed 'Notice of  
Appeal' with Ancilliary Papers, in Proper  
Form ( Cl. Tr. p. 16, etc.)

The complaining witness in this case was  
R. E. E. Sprague of Salt Lake City, Utah, who  
testified that he and his wife arrived in St.  
George, Utah, at about 11 P.M. on the night of

September 27, 1955, (Rep. Tr. p. 2, 3. )  
and stayed at the Twin Oaks Motel, Room 23.  
He testified that at about 3:00 A.M. he heard  
stirring sound in the room, thought it was  
his wife, then looked up and saw a man in the  
room at the foot of his bed (Rep. Tr. p. 4.)  
that he yelled at him, whereupon the man ran  
out of the room and Mr. Sprague chased him as  
he ran across the court and into a car at the  
end of the driveway, in which he then sped  
away; Mr. Sprague observed the man's clothing  
and that he had on a square cut jacket with  
the collar turned up, although he didn't recall  
if he had any hat (Rep. Tr. p. 5.) and that the  
man was between Five foot eight and Five foot-  
ten inches tall, was of medium build and that  
he weighed about 160 pounds (Rep. Tr. pp. 6-7.)  
and described the car as being a 1947 or 1948  
dark sedan, with California 1955 License No.  
462175 (Rep. Tr. pp. 9-10.) that he got within  
ten feet of the car (Rep. Tr. p. 37, L. 8.)  
Mr. Sprague testified that as the car started

leave he knelt down and got the license number-California 1955 No. 4N621 75, which is lighted (Rep. Tr. p. 10, L. 28-32.) that he could see it very distinctly, that he was within ten feet of the car when he took it, that he ran it over in his mind several times to memorize it (Rep. Tr. p. 39.) that he then immediately returned to his room and wrote it down (Rep. Tr. p. 12, L. 3-4; p. 49, L. 5-8.) that that the license number on Appellant's car that he later saw in Mesquite, Nevada, was number 4N621 26, Not number 4N621 75 which he had seen and memorized in good light within ten feet, written down and reported to the Officer at St. George, Utah (Rep. Tr. p. 39, p. 30,- p. 41, L. 4.)

Mr. Sprague testified that he reported to the officers that the car he saw at the Hotel in St. George was a PONTIAC or a CHRYSLER (Rep. Tr. 53, L. 2-9, 25-28.)

Whereas the car that appellant's were driving which he saw in Mesquite, Nevada, was a PONTIAC,



(Rep. Tr. p. 24, L. 7-15.)

All that Mr. Sprague could definitely say about the car was that it was a dark color with a chrome strip on it, like millions of other cars; But he was quite definite in testifying that the car which he looked at in Mesquite, Nevada, which appellants were driving, had a license No. 4N621 26, instead of the Number 4N621 75 which he had carefully memorized and immediately written down at the Motel in St. George (Rep. Tr. p. 21.)

Mr. Sprague admitted that there were 'lots' of other cars on the road the same as the car of appellants, and the same as the car that he saw at the Motel, of the same color and general shape, and that the last two numbers of the License Number that he turned in definitely were '75', and NOT '26' as in the License on appellant's car (Rep. Tr. p. 57, L. 7-23.)

Mr. Sprague said that appellant's had around 118.00 dollars about evenly divided in their wallets at Mesquite, Nevada (Rep. Tr. p. 56, L. 8-24.)

that neither of the wallets belonged to him

(Rep. Tr. p. 56, L. 19-21.)

That the wallet which was gone when he returned to his Motel room was never found (Rep. Tr. p. 45, L. 5-10.).

Mr. Sprague testified that he did not observe the color of the man's clothes as he ran in front of the headlights (Rep. Tr. p. 35, L. 19-26.) Mr. Sprague also testified that there was another person in the car but that he did not know whether it was a man or a woman (Rep. Tr. p. 11, L. 25-26.) that he then went back to his room, wrote down the License number he had memorized, and advised his wife that he had been robbed. (Rep. Tr. p. 12.) of money that was in his wallet at the foot of the consisting of four twenty-dollar bills; three five-dollar bills, and three one dollar bills, a total of ninety-eight dollars (Rep. Tr. p. 12.) because his wallet was gone when he returned to the room (Rep. Tr. p. 13, L. 20-25; p. 45, L. 5-10.)

Mr. Sprague described the clothing of the man he saw in his Motel room as:

" The man's trousers..were dark brown or a green, as compared to a lighter colored jacket." (Rep. Tr. p. 14, L. 19-24; p. 18.)

Mr. Sprague said that the man he saw at Motel had on a Navy field Jacket (Rep. Tr. p. 51, L. 5-11.) That upon returning to his Motel room and writing down the License number of the car he saw , he woke up the proprietor of the Motel and called the local Police, and about an hour and half later left for Mesquite, Nevada, where the Appellants had been stopped (Rep. Tr. pp. 49-50 ), and upon arriving there they, the same two men sitting in the courtroom, were pointed out to him sitting in a Cafe, and he was asked if they were the men, and Mr. Sprague testified:

" I said, NO, THEY ARE NOT THE MEN." (Rep. Tr. 15, L. 6-16; p. 41, L. 18-20.) That he was right next to them in the Cafe when he looked at them and made the statement that:

"These are not the men" (Rep. Tr. p. 50, l. 23-27.) And Mr. Sprague again on cross examination testified that when he saw appellants in Mesquite, Nevada, that he definitely said;

"they were not the men, that he had never seen them before,"

(Rep. Tr. p. 58, l. 30--p. 59, l. 2.)

All that Mr. Sprague could say by way of any identification of Appellant Washington, was that he: "...would fit the general description."

(Rep. Tr. p. 26, l. 27-28; p. 41, l. 21-25.)

despite the fact that the man that he chased at the Motel ran in front of car with headlights on only a few feet ahead of Mr. Sprague (Rep. Tr. p. 33.)

Mr. Sprague in his testimony said that the man he chased could not have been less than five feet-eight in height (Rep Tr. p. 40, l. 15-16.) which eliminates appellant Sullivan, who is much shorter as the man who was in the Motel room; And Mr. Sprague also testified that the man he saw in the room couldn't have been six

- 7 -

feet tall (Rep. Tr. p. 40, L. 25-30.) which eliminates Appellant Washington as the man because he is, as Deputy Abbott testified; "six feet or six feet one tall, and weighs 190 pounds." (Rep. Tr. p. 119, L. 4-9.)

Whereas Mr. Sprague testified the man he saw in his Motel room was between 5' 8" and 5' 10" and only weighed about 160 pounds (Rep. Tr. pp. 6-7.) Mr. Sprague said that he did not observe any of the features of the man he saw in his room (Rep. Tr. p. 42, L. 3-13, 19-23.) that the only way he had of distinguishing the man was that he was approximately five feet eight to ten in height and of medium build (Rep. Tr. p. 42, L. 14-18.)

Oscar Abbott, Mesquite, Nevada, Deputy Sheriff, testified that he was on duty on the morning of September 28, 1955, and was patrolling the highway looking for a car with California License No. 4N621 75 (Rep. Tr. p. 79, L. 11-15.) and he stopped and arrested the Appellants in a 1947 NASH sedan with License No. 4N621 26

(Rep. Tr. p. 80, L. 5-16.) whereas he had received a phone call from St. George to stop a car with License number 4M621 75 (Rep. Tr. p. 80, L. 19-23.) Deputy Abbott phoned the Officers in St. George, Utah, and waited in the Cafe until they came. Deputy Abbott also testified that Mr. Sprague, when he came into the Cafe in Menquite, looked at the Appellants and said:

" I can't positively identify the men".

" It seemed as if one of them had a sport coat on or a field jacket". "Did they have any other clothes?" "He turned to me and said: "Did they have any other clothes?" And I said: "I never checked the car".

He said: "The taller one fills the description in stature but I can't identify him positively." (Rep. Tr. p. 85, L. 30--p. 86, L. 7; p. 113, L. 5-12.)

Deputy Abbott testified that he took \$65 from Washington and \$62 from Sullivan, a total of \$127. (Rep. Tr. p. 88, L. 16--p. 89, L. 19.)

Deputy Abbott said that he put the two wallets taken from appellants in envelopes with his writing on and turned them over to the Sheriff from Las Vegas (Rep. Tr. p. 106.) that he never removed the money from their wallets (P. 107, L. 4-5.) but it appears from his testimony that the envelopes in which he had placed their wallets and money had vanished and been replaced, that the envelopes introduced in evidence did not bear his writing, and the wallets were gone (Rep. Tr. p. 107, L. 7--p. 108, L. 11.) And the District Attorney admitted that they St. George Sheriff's office had never received the wallets, and he had never seen them. (Rep. Tr. p. 104, L. 3-7.)

Deputy Abbott testified that he was at the Cafe in Mesquite with the Appellants for about three hours , that during the time he was stopping them, and during the time they were in the Cafe a number of other cars passed, but that he didn't even pay any attention to them, despite the fact that he was looking for a car with

License number hW621 75, and he had stopped  
Appellant's car and it had No hW621 26, just  
because he figured that he had the one.  
Rep. Tr. p. 120, L. 13-30; p. 121, L. 8-12.)  
That the car he was looking for had a number  
ending in "75", and he had picked up one that  
ended in "26" (Rep. Tr. p. 121, L. 8-12; p.  
124, L. 14-16; Rep. Tr. p. 97, L. 12-17.)  
Deputy Abbott testified that often, in fact every  
day he had occasion to follow and stop cars  
going through the main street of Mesquite at  
65 miles an hour (Rep. Tr. p. 125, L. 5-11.)  
That the fact that Appellant's car was going rapidly did  
not mean anything in Mesquite, as  
quite a number of them do it (Rep. Tr. p. 98,  
L. 3-7.) Deputy Abbott said that he found no  
other clothes or coats in Appellant's car  
(Rep. Tr. pp. 113-114; p. 117, L. 2-9, 24-29.)  
and that Mr. Sprague said the coat worn by  
Washington was different from the one he had  
seen the man in his room in St. George wearing  
(Rep. Tr. p. 115, L. 10-15.)



Sheriff Roy Hancock of St. George, Utah, testified that he got a call to go to Mesquite, Nevada, at 3:12 A.M., September 28, 1955 (Rep. Tr. p. 76.) that Mr. Sprague, when he looked at the Appellants in the Cafe in Mesquite, Nevada, said:

"they are not the men,"

(Rep. Tr. p. 135, L. 24-26.)

And that the coat that Washington was wearing was NOT the same color as the one worn by the man Mr. Sprague had seen in his Motel room (Rep. Tr. 136, L. 4-6.)

Sheriff Hancock testified that Washington when he saw him in Mesquite, right after he had been arrested, was wearing LIGHT TAN Trousers and a DARK Jacket, that the Jacket was darker than the Trousers (Rep. Tr. p.136, L. 10-23; p. 137, L. 24-30.) whereas Mr. Sprague said the clothing of the man he saw in his room was:

"The man's trousers..were dark brown or

a green as compared with a lighter jacket."

(Rep. Tr. p. 14, L. 19-24; p. 18.)

Sheriff Renouf examined the car of appellants in Mesquite, Nevada, and testified that the license number on it was 4M621 26 and that the license number given him to look for in St. George was 4M621 75 (Rep. Tr. p. 132, L. 1-9.) and Mr. Sprague testified that the last two numbers of the license that he took down and turned in were definitely 75 not 26 (Rep. Tr. p. 57, L. 22-23.) ; Sheriff Renouf testified further that he was an old resident of California that California numbered it's License plates consecutively (as do they all)(Rep. Tr. p. 139, L. 18-30.) therefore there would be 27 other last two numbers in the same series of plates concerned in this case, that is from 00 to 99; And no check was made regarding these other license plate numbers of such series.

The Record shows that the Appellants consistently denied all knowledge of the alleged crime, refused to voluntarily leave Nevada for Utah, and plead 'NOT GUILTY' to the charge of Burglary.

To sum up the evidence as shown by the Record in this case, all that it shows is that- No One ever identified appellants as having been at the scene of the crime, in fact Mr. Sprague said that "They were not the men." That the clothing worn by them was different from that worn by the man Mr. Sprague saw in his Motel room, and no clothing was found in their car; That their car did ~~not~~ have the same license number as that carefully taken down and reported by Mr. Sprague, and that no stolen property of any kind was found on or about the persons or property of the accused appellants.

Further, the Record of the Trial in this case shows persistent prejudicial misconduct by the District Attorney throughout the Trial, that he persisted in leading the witnesses, in his asking for 'Opinion' evidence, and his many attempts to introduce prejudicial 'Hearsay', although berated by the Trial Court time after time not to do so, in order to arouse the Jury

against appellants and convict them on mere suspicion, speculation and conjecture.

The Record shows as follows:

"(Rep. Tr. p. 15, L. 18-19.):-

Q. Are you of the Opinion, Mr. Sprague, that these men, or one of them, was the man that was in your room?"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 18, L. 18.):

The Court: Refrain from leading."

(Rep. Tr. p. 19, L. 1.):

Mr. NELSON: Would you stand up, Mr.

Washington? ."

"(Rep. Tr. p. 19, L. 4-30):

(Attempt to get in 'Hearsay' )"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 27, L. 4-7.):

A. All right, now Mr. Sprague, I am going to ask you to look about the courtroom and to point out, if you can the person who you think committed this crime in your hotel room." (Plus prejudicial argument by D. A.)

"(Rep. Tr. p. 29, L. 3-14.):

(Court admonished the witness, Mr. Sprague.)"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 60, L. 2-7.):

(Court admonishes witness, W. Sprague,)"

"(Rep. Tr. pp. 61, 62, 63.):

(attempts to enter 'Hearsay' testimony.)"

"(Rep. Tr. pp. 67-69.):

(After long haggling and attempting to get in more 'hearsay', the D. A. finally brought out that Sullivan had said he would not go to Utah)"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 73-74.):

(Sheriff Rencuf attempted to get in 'Hearsay',)"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 78, L. 12-18.):

(Court again berates D. A. for attempting to get in 'Hearsay'.)"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 81, L. 4-6, 16.):

THE COURT: I believe the ruling should stand. It is palpably hearsay...

THE COURT: Refrain from leading."

"(Rep. Tr. p. 84, L. 17-20.):

(Court again comments on 'Hearsay'.)"

"(Rep. Tr. p. 88, L. 14-15.):

THE COURT: Refrain from that, just ask the witnesses without informing the jury of the endorsements."

At Rep. Tr. p. 90. L. 23; p. 91, L. 1-14.)

the District Attorney persisted in attempting to get testimony as to some alleged tools that were supposed to have been found in appellant's car on a second search of it, and persisted in arguing as to its admissibility in front of the jury; continuing from P. 91, L. 20 on, the issue was argued in the absence of the jury and the Court finally refused to admit such tools (Rep. Tr. p. 95, L. 6-7.) but the jury was not admonished to disregard the testimony and the arguments, the harm planned by the District Attorney had been done.

It was stated by Mr. Pickett:

"There is no evidence there was any tools used, and forced entrance to this man's room.. There could be no relation between the tools found in the car and this burglary."

(Rep. Tr. p. 92, L. 4-7.)

" (Rep. Tr. p. 93, L. 29-30.):

THE COURT: There is no evidence to indicate any tools were used."

And Mr. Parague had testified that he didn't know whether his Hotel room door was locked.

( Rep. Tr. p. 43, L. 3-10.)

At Rep. Tr. pages 145-146, Mr. Ellis Pickett, the Defense Counsel made a motion for a directed verdict of acquittal, on the grounds that no sufficient evidence had been adduced to justify the case being submitted to the Jury, and it a very good summation of the lack of evidence in this case, that it is nothing but speculation;

But this Motion was denied and overruled by the Trial Court (Rep. Tr. p. 147, L. 1-3.)

The case submitted to the jury and it in less than two hours returned a verdict of guilty against both of the Defendant - Appellants.

(Rep. Tr. p. 148.)..

POINTS, ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES.

POINT ONE.

THE VERDICT AND JUDGMENT IS CONTRARY  
TO THE LAW AND THE EVIDENCE.

\* \* \* \*

(1) There was no identification of either of the appellants as having been at the scene of the alleged burglary.

Mr. Sprague, the complaining witness, could offer but a very meager description of the man he saw in his Motel room., and as to the second occupant of the car that sped away he testified that he did not know whether it was a man or woman (Rep. Tr. p. 11, L. 25-28.)

And Mr. Sprague, upon confronting the appellants within two hours after said burglary, while the facts were still fresh in his mind stated :

" They are NOT the men. "

and that they were wearing different colored clothes than the man he saw at the Motel.

(Rep. Tr. p. 15, L. 6-16; p. 41, L. 18-20;



(Rep. Tr. p. 58, L. 23-27; p. 58, L. 30--  
p. 59, L. 2; p. 85, L. 30--p. 86, L. 7;  
p. 113, L. 5-12; p. 135, L. 24-26; p. 136, L. 4-6.)

(14) At the time of their arrest shortly after the alleged burglary, the appellants were NOT wearing, did NOT have, and were never shown to have had, any clothing of the description of that worn by the alleged burglar.

Mr. Sprague described the clothing of the man he saw in his Motel room to be :

"The man's trousers.. were dark brown or green, as compared to a lighter jacket."

(Rep. Tr. p. 14, L. 19-24; p. 18.)

That upon seeing appellant in Mesquite, Nevada, Mr. Sprague immediately noticed the difference in clothes and asked Deputy Abbott:

"Did they have any other clothes, etc."

(Rep. Tr. p. 85, L. 30--p. 86, L. 7; p. 113, L. 5-12.) That the coat worn by Washington was different from the one he had seen the man in his room in the Motel in St. George wearing  
(Rep. Tr. p. 115, L. 10-15.)

That no other clothes were found in appellants car (Rep. Tr. pp. 113, 114; p. 117, L. 2-9, 24-29.)

And Sheriff Roy Remouf of St. George, testified that Washington was wearing :

" LIGHT tan trousers and a DARK Jacket, that the Jacket was darker than the trousers."

(Rep. Tr. p. 136, L. 10-23; p. 137, L. 24-30.)

the opposite of the clothing worn by the burglar.

(111) The description given of the alleged burglar, does not apply to either of the appellants.

Mr. Spragus testified that the burglar was a man between five foot-eight and ten inches in height and weighed about 160 pounds, and of medium build (Rep. Tr. pp. 6-7;) p. 40, L. 15-16.)

which automatically cancels out Sullivan, who is much shorter, stocky and over 200 pounds; and also eliminates Washington as the man, as he is six foot-one tall and weights 190 pounds.

(Rep. Tr. p. 119, L. 4-9.)

(1111) There was NO identification of the appellant's car as being the one used in the alleged burglary.

Mr. Sprague, the complaining witness, being in the insurance business should know cars, he testified that he was within ten feet of the car seen at the Motel (Rep. Tr. p. 37, L. 8.) that the car he saw at the Motel was a PONTIAC or CHRYSLER (Rep. Tr. p. 53, L. 2-9, 25-28.) whereas the car driven by appellants was a NASH (Rep. Tr. p. 24, L. 7-15.)

Further the evidence shows that the License number which Mr. Sprague took down in good light within a distance of ten feet at the Motel, was NOT that of the License on appellant's car. (Rep. Tr. p. 39, L. 30; — p. 40, L. 4; p. 37, L. 8; p. 57, L. 7-23; p. 79, L. 11-15; p. 80, L. 5-16; p. 121, L. 8-12; p. 124, L. 14-16; p. 97, L. 12-17; p. 139, L. 1-9.)

(11111) There was no identification of the money or anything else in appellant's possession as

having been stolen or even acquired suddenly or under unusual circumstances.

Mr. Sprague testified that he lost a total of ninety-eight dollars (Rep. Tr. p. 12.)

Deputy Abbott testified that appellants had over \$130 between them when he arrested them (Rep. Tr. p. 109, L. 16-19.) that he gave them 3 or 4 dollars to spend and put the rest, still in their wallets, in two envelopes which he endorsed, to the Officers from Las Vegas, Nevada. (Rep. Tr. p. 106.) But that the money submitted as evidence at the trial, was in entirely different envelopes from an unknown source, the wallets taken from appellants had disappeared, and there was no showing whatever that it was the same money as that taken from appellants, no chain of custody and nothing to identify it. (Rep. Tr. pp. 103, L. 15,—p. 108, L. 13.)

Nevertheless, the State was allowed to present as evidence part of the money allegedly taken from appellants, in those denominations like those lost by Mr. Sprague, who could identify

It only by denomination (Rep. Tr. p. 55-56.)

Appellant submit that even if the money put in evidence was part of that taken from them, that there was no possible way of identifying it as that taken from Mr. Sprague, that millions of persons in this country daily carry over a hundred dollars on their persons in Twenty, Five and One dollars Bills, that there is not a thing unusual about carrying that amount of money in those denominations, and just because several men may be carrying among their other money, similar denominations to those stolen from someone else means nothing, that purported 'identification by denomination' is a fraud.

Certainly the possession by appellants of \$62 and \$65 in their respective wallets while traveling in a car is not unusual, and there is no showing that they suddenly acquired the exact amount lost by Mr. Sprague, or even that they suddenly acquired any amount of money; The appellants submit that it is not unlawful per se to have money and that just because among

their small amount of money there happened to be some of the same common denominations that were lost by Mr. Sprague, is not by any means evidence that it was stolen from him or anyone else.

In *State v. Crowder* (Utah 1948) 197 P. 2d.

917, at 922-923, this Supreme Court quoted:

- " (1) Appellant contends that the court erred in admitting in evidence the \$1000 in twenty dollar bills because no proper foundation was laid for its admission in evidence, the State having failed to identify the twenty dollar bills found in appellant's possession as the identical bills which were stolen. In support of this contention he quotes the following from Wignore, "Treatise on Evidence, 'Vol. 1. Sec. 154, p. 186;

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