1956

The State of Utah v. John Joseph Sullivan and Joseph Craven Washington : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent adopts the first two paragraphs of the appellants' Statement of Facts.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Aside from the allegation that the attorneys for the State misbehaved at the trial of this case, the appellants'

argument may be reduced to the contention that the evidence is insufficient to sustain the verdict. The respondent's brief is directed primarily toward this point.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

POINT II.

THERE WAS NO MISCONDUCT ON THE PART OF THE ATTORNEYS FOR THE STATE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT.

E. R. Sprague, the complaining witness, testified that he and his wife retired shortly after 11:00 P. M. in their St. George motel room on September 27, 1955; that he was awakened during the night by the movements of someone in the room and that he shouted at the intruder; that the man fled from the room and that Sprague chased him across the motel courtyard to a waiting car (R. 4, 5); that he was of a medium build and about 5' 8" or 5' 10" in height (R. 6); that he entered a dark colored four-door 1947 or

1948 model car with a slanted back and a strip of chrome along the hood above the fender (R. 7) ; that the man got into the driver's side of the car and that there was another person in the passenger side of the front seat ; that the car backed out of the driveway and headed West out of St. George at a high rate of speed (R. 9, 27) ; that the witness kneeled on the ground in an attempt to get a view of the license number as the car sped away and that he noted the number and later wrote it down (R. 10) ; that the car carried 1955 California license plate No. 4N 62175 ; that he was at about a 45° angle from the face of the license plate as he viewed it ; and that the car drove off toward Nevada (R. 11, 65).

He further testified that upon his return to the motel he found his wallet missing ; that it had contained four \$20 bills, three \$5 bills and three \$1 bills (R. 12, 13) ; and that he awakened the motel proprietor and notified the local police (R. 49). He did not test his motel door before retiring but as far as he knew, it was locked. He described the intruder's clothing as brown or dark green trousers and a light colored jacket. A few minutes after reporting the theft, he accompanied the law enforcement officers to Mesquite, Nevada, where the two appellants, sitting in a cafe, were pointed out to him. His initial reaction was that they were not the men (T. 15), but he later testified that after seeing the appellant Washington in a standing position he was able to state that Washington was of the same height and build as the man who burglarized his motel room (R. 30). He stated that in Mesquite the appellant Washington was dressed in a casual jacket and trousers.

ers and that the trousers were darker in color than the jacket (R. 17, 18). The witness identified the car in which the appellants were apprehended as the same car he saw in St. George, and described it as a dark colored 1947 or 1948 model four-door sedan with a slanted back, carrying 1955 California license plate No. 4N 62126 (R. 20, 21, 24). Mr. Sprague further testified that the appellant Washington admitted being in St. George at 3:00 o'clock that morning, that the car described was his car and that he had been driving it (R. 22, 23).

Roy Renouf, Washington County Sheriff, testified that shortly after the burglary he went to the Freezer Cafe in Mesquite, Nevada, where the appellants were being held by the Nevada law enforcement officers (R. 75, 76); that he inspected the car in which the appellants were apprehended; that the car was a 1947 or 1948 dark blue Nash with license No. 4N 62126 (R. 75, 139, 141); that there were some tools in the back of the car (R. 74); that \$62.00 was taken from one appellant and \$65.00 from the other; that Mr. Sprague upon first seeing the appellants, stated that they weren't the men; that he later said the appellant Washington was of the same general build; and that the jacket worn by Washington was darker than his trousers (R. 136, 137).

Oscar Abbott, Deputy Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada, upon examination stated that he apprehended the appellants as they drove through Mesquite, Nevada; that they were traveling in a dark blue 1947 four-door Nash sedan with California license No. 4N 62126; that he had, by a telephone call from St. George, been asked to pick up a car carrying California License No. 4N 62175; that the ap-

pellants' car was traveling west at a high rate of speed (R. 81); that he took them into custody and held them at the Freezer Cafe; that appellant Washington, in answer to the witness' question, stated they had been in St. George earlier that morning; that when Mr. Sprague first saw the appellants they were sitting on stools in the cafe; that Sprague said he couldn't positively identify the appellants but that "the taller one" filled the description in stature. He stated he examined the wallets of each appellant; that he took \$65.00 from Washington, \$62.00 from Sullivan and left a small amount with them for spending money; and that between them the appellants had four \$20.00 bills, four \$5.00 bills, one \$10.00 bill and two or three \$1.00 bills. On cross examination Deputy Sheriff Abbott testified that while in the cafe, appellant Washington asked Mr. Sprague to say whether or not he and Sullivan were the men who burglarized his room and that Sprague answered that he couldn't positively identify them, that "apparently he had a different coat on"; and that there was a jacket or shirt of some description in the appellants' car. His recollection of Washington's clothing was that he wore a tan coat and darker pants (R. 114).

In summary the testimony shows that the motel room occupied by Mr. Sprague and his wife was burglarized in the early morning hours on September 28, 1955, and \$98.00 in denominations of twenty, five and one dollar bills was taken. The intruder fled with a companion in a dark colored four-door 1947 or 1948 model sedan with a turtle back and a chrome strip along the side of the hood and bearing 1955 California license plate, thought to be numbered

4N 62175. The get-away car sped west out of St. George toward Nevada.

The appellants were arrested in Mesquite, Nevada, some fifty miles from the scene of burglary between forty-five minutes and one hour later. They were traveling west at between sixty-five and seventy miles per hour in a thirty-five mile zone. The car was a 1947 Nash four-door sedan, dark blue in color with a turtle back and a chrome strip along the hood just above the fender. It bore 1955 California license plate 4N 62126. The appellants had in their wallets the approximate sum of \$130.00 made up partially of four \$20.00 bills, four \$5.00 bills, one \$10.00 bill and three or more \$1.00 bills. Appellant Washington's stature corresponded generally with that of the burglar. Washington stated that the two appellants had been in St. George at the approximate time of the burglary. Appellant Sullivan was traveling with Washington and made no denial of past association with him.

Appellants, in their brief, emphasize that the victim, Mr. Sprague, was unable to make positive identification of either of them upon first seeing them in the Freezer Cafe at Mesquite. We readily acknowledge that Sprague's identification of the appellants is tenuous and adds but little weight to the State's evidence. He caught only brief glimpses of the burglar during the chase from the motel room to the get-away car and that was in a running posture. When he first saw the appellants they were in a sitting position in the cafe and his initial impression was that they were not the men. Later, after he saw appellant Washington in a standing position, he stated that Washington could

have been the man (R. 86) and at another point he testified that Washington was the same height (R. 29, 30). That Sprague earlier had guessed the burglar's height at around 5' 10" and Washington was apparently an inch or two taller than that, is of no significance. The discrepancy is not large and we admit that Sprague was not able to put a tape on the fleeing culprit. Sprague later stated on cross examination that the man could have been more than 5' 10" (R. 40).

Appellants also argue that they were, when arrested, not wearing, and did not have any clothing similar to that worn by the burglar. On the contrary, Sprague described the intruder as wearing dark pants and a light colored jacket (R. 14) and stated that appellant Washington wore the same sort of trousers and jacket when seen by Sprague in the cafe (R. 18). Deputy Sheriff Abbott, gave the same description of Washington's clothing (R. 114). Sprague's description of the burglar's jacket was the same as Washington's jacket, although his initial impression at Mesquite apparently was that the jacket worn by Washington was not the same one. The appellants did have other clothes in the car when arrested (R. 114, 117) and could have made changes which would confuse anyone who saw them only as fleetingly as had the victim.

The appellants claim there was no identification of their car. If they are right, then they are deprived of their liberty by some remarkable coincidences. The burglars' car was a dark color four-door sedan; the appellants were arrested in a dark blue four-door sedan. The burglars' car was a 1947 or 1948 model; the appellants' car was a 1947 model. The burglars' car had a turtle back; the appellants'

car had a turtle back. The burglars' car had a chrome strip along the side of the hood just above the fender; so did the appellants' car. And most singular of all is the almost exact identity between the license plate of the burglars' car and that of the appellants'. The plates reported by Sprague were 1955 California No. 4N 62175; the plates carried by appellants' car were 1955 California No. 4N 62126. There is noticeable similarity between the combinations of "26" and "75", and by slight changes either can be converted into the other. When Sprague took these numbers, he was kneeling in the dark along side the road and the car was speeding away from him. It is noteworthy that the numbers and letters which correspond exactly are those he would read first and that the discrepancy occurs between those at the right-hand side of the plate where the numbers would be farther from him as the car sped away. In addition, he had nothing on which to write and was required to trust his memory until he could return to his motel room and write the number down.

Appellants raise objection to the admission into evidence of the currency taken from them and among other authorities they quote from the case of *State v. Crowder*, (Utah, 1948) 197 P. 2d 917, to support their claim of error. The difficulty is, they don't quote far enough. In addition to the language found on page 26 of appellants' brief, this court, following Wigmore, said further:

"Where the denominations of the money found and the money taken correspond in a fairly close way, the fact of the finding of that specific money would have probative value and be relevant, because the money found is fairly marked as identical with

the money taken.'” (Wigmore, 3rd Edition, sec. 154.)

With regard to the sufficiency, we acknowledge that the sum found in the possession of appellants was about one-third again as much as that taken from Sprague, but it is of some probative weight in the State's case that the number and denomination of bills taken from him could be accounted for in the bills taken from their person. The admission of the bills cannot in any event be claimed as error because defense counsel stipulated to their admission (R. 142, 143). They were, therefore, properly before the jury for what they were worth.

We submit that the foregoing testimony fully supports the jury's verdict of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Calculated mathematically, the chances that these appellants are not the men who committed the offense are non-existent. They admittedly were in St. George at the time of the burglary; were fleeing west from the scene at a high rate of speed; were in a car which fit perfectly the description of the thieves' car and had a license plate whose first five numbers or letters corresponded exactly with the numbers on the thieves' car. Add to that evidence the fact that appellant Washington is of the same stature as the man who was chased from Sprague's room; that the clothing corresponded generally to that of the burglar, and that between them the appellants carried currency which in quantity and denomination was the same as that taken from Sprague's room, and the total picture is one of clear guilt on the part of appellants.

Appellants' brief suggests that there is no evidence against Sullivan, but the record shows otherwise (R. 110, 125, 126). The identity of the car used in the burglary, with that in which the appellants were apprehended leaves no doubt that Sullivan was in the car when Sprague's room was entered by Washington. His deportment, especially his failure to protest to statements made after his arrest, is consistent only with his guilt. The court instructed the jury "that a person who wrongfully and willfully aids or assists or encourages another person to commit a crime is jointly guilty as a principal with the one who directly does the act constituting the crime" and this statement of the law of principals accords with our statutory and case law on the point. Utah Code annotated 1953, Section 75-1-44, *State v. Laub*, (Utah, 1942) 131 P. 2d 805.

POINT II.

THERE WAS NO MISCONDUCT ON THE PART OF THE ATTORNEYS FOR THE STATE.

The record does not reflect on the part of the District Attorney any feigned righteousness or conduct calculated to convince the jury that the appellants were clever blackguards. Any information the appellants may have upon this point which is not in the record cannot be made the basis of argument on appeal.

The appellants were represented by competent counsel who overlooked nothing in putting the State to its proof. Further, the court itself was diligent in safeguarding the

appellants' rights as evidenced by the number of rulings in the record sustaining the objections of defense counsel, cited in appellants' brief.

Appellants complain of references to tools found in their car. It was defense counsel who first touched on the means of entry into Sprague's room (R. 43), not the attorneys for the State, and the court carefully screened from the jury any reference to the tools (R. 74, 91). As far as the jury were concerned, the testimony from Sheriff Renouf to "some tools in the back" could have referred to a wrench and a screwdriver. The only testimony in the presence of the jury suggesting otherwise, was elicited by defense counsel, not by the State (R. 102). Of this the appellants have no standing to complain.

CONCLUSION

The jury saw and heard the witnesses and are the proper judge of their accuracy and credibility. The evidence placed before them is such as would convince reasonable men beyond a reasonable doubt and is sufficient to sustain their verdict. The judgment below should be affirmed.